I. INTRODUCTION 

When the legislature enacted the wrongful conviction 

compensation act in 2013, it limited financial recovery to instances where 

a claimant was pardoned or their conviction overturned based on 

"significant new exculpatory information," and even then, only if the 

claimant was "actually innocent." In light of these limitations, proponents 

of the act and the legislature understood that financial recovery would be 

rare. In this case, however, the Court of Appeals adopted an unreasonably 

broad definition of "new information" that defies common understanding 

of the term and defeats the legislature's intent. This Court should review 

this overbroad interpretation and reverse. 

After their convictions were vacated and dismissed, Plaintiffs 

Robert Larson, Tyler Gassman, and Paul Statler brought a joint claim for 

compensation under the act. The trial court conducted a four-day bench 

trial, the first wrongful conviction compensation trial held in Washington. 

The trial court found that (1) Plaintiffs failed to establish that their 

convictions had been vacated and dismissed on the basis of "significant 

new exculpatory information," and (2) they failed to prove by clear and 

convincing evidence that they were "actually innocent." 

The Court of Appeals rejected the superior court's understanding 

of "new information" and remanded, holding that "new information" 



"must be construed broadly to include information that was available at 

the criminal trial but was not presented to the fact finder." Larson, v. State, 

No. 33179-2, slip op. at 15 (Wash. Ct. App. June 28, 2016). This 

definition ignores ordinary usage, as it would define information as "new" 

even if the defense actually possessed the information at the time of trial 

and simply chose not to use it for strategic or other reasons. This definition 

is also contrary to legislative intent; the legislature never contemplated a 

wrongful conviction claim based on information that the criminal 

defendant intentionally withheld or strategically did not present to the 

jury. This is the first time an appellate court has articulated the meaning of 

"new information" under the wrongful conviction compensation act. The 

State respectfully seeks review of this issue of substantial public interest. 

The Court of Appeals also improperly faulted the trial court for 

considering prior judicial interpretations of the term of art "actual 

innocence." Despite the trial court's statements to the contrary, the Court 

of Appeals concluded the trial court failed to apply the clear and 

convincing burden of proof. The proper application of the "actual 

innocence" prong is also an issue of substantial public importance that 

should be reviewed, thus providing guidance to lower courts. 

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

If this Court grants the petition for review, the issues will be: 
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I. Whether the Court of Appeals' interpretation of "significant new 
exculpatory information" to include any information that "was not 
presented to the fact finder" is so broad that it contradicts the 
statute's plain language and legislative intent. 

2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it faulted the trial court 
for considering prior judicial interpretations of the term of art 
"actual innocence" where the trial court otherwise expressly 
applied the clear and convincing burden of proof. 

3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it remanded for a new 
trial on "actual innocence" where the trial court relied on 
credibility determinations after a four-day trial to conclude that 
Plaintiffs had not met their clear and convincing burden. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Sometime in April 2008, Anthony Kongchunji, Matthew Dunham, 

and three masked men robbed drug dealer Eric Weskamp of about $4,000 

at gunpoint. Ex. P50 at 97-105; Ex. P52 at 213-25, 233-35. Mr. Weskamp 

and a companion gave chase, and one of the robbers fired shots at their 

pursuers. CP at 407-08 (FOFs I, 12, 13). 1 No one reported the crime at the 

time. Ex. P50 at 114-15; Ex. Dill at 62. 

Later in April 2008, Mr. Kongchunji and Mr. Dunham were 

arrested for a similar robbery. CP at 408-09 (FOF 14). They then 

identified the three masked men as Plaintiffs in this case: Robert Larson, 

Tyler Gassman, and Paul Statler. CP at 409-10 (FOFs 18, 20). Mr. 

1 Unless noted otherwise, all cited Findings of Fact are unchallenged and are 
therefore verities on appeal. State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 571, 62 P.3d 489 (2003). 
Plaintiffs challenged only Findings of Fact 10 and 44. Appellant's Opening. Br. at 3 
(Assignments of Error). 
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Kongchunji recanted this accusation before the criminal trial. CP at 409-

10 (FOF 19). 

Mr. Larson, Mr. Gassman, and Mr. Statler were charged with first 

degree robbery, two counts of attempted first degree murder (or, in the 

alternative, first degree assault), and two counts of drive by shooting. Exs. 

P1-P3. The information originally alleged that the crimes had occurred on 

or about April 15, 2008. CP at 410-11 (FOFs 22-24). But the criminal trial 

judge later granted motions to amend the information to allege the crimes 

occurred on or about April 17, 2008. CP at 411 (FOF 25). 

Neither side called Mr. Kongchunj i to testify at the criminal trial. 

CP at 409 (FOF 19). Mr. Dunham, on the other hand, testified against 

Plaintiffs in exchange for a lighter sentence, something the jury was 

informed about. CP at 410 (FOF 21). All three were convicted of first 

degree robbery, two counts of first degree assault, and two counts of drive 

by shooting. CP at 411 (FOFs 27-28). 

After an initial motion for a new trial was unsuccessful and 

rejected on appeal,2 Plaintiffs filed motions for relief from judgment under 

CrR 7.8. CP at 412 (FOF 37). Spokane County Superior Court Judge Price 

granted these motions. CP at 412 (FOF 37). He found that after the State 

2 State v. Larson, 160 Wn. App. 577, 249 P.3d 669 (2011); State v. Gassman, 
160 Wn. App. 600, 248 P.3d 155 (2011); State v. Statler, 160 Wn. App. 622, 248 P.3d 
165 (2011). 
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amended the information to change the date of the crime, defense counsel 

(1) failed to investigate Mr. Weskamp's work records, which would have 

shed additional light on the likely date the crime was committed; (2) failed 

to investigate Mr. Dunham's phone records, which showed he was in 

contact with the victims, even though he claimed at trial he did not know 

them; and (3) failed to interview key witnesses, including the investigating 

detectives and Shane Nielsen, Mr. Statler's roommate, who would have 

testified that Mr. Statler was unaware that the gun used in the robbery was 

stashed in their home. CP at 412-13 (FOF 37); Exs. P16-P18 (FOFs VII, 

VIII, IX). Judge Price concluded that Plaintiffs' defense counsel did not 

adequately investigate, that they failed to uncover "potentially exculpatory 

evidence," and that, "the aggregate effect of [defense counsel's] errors 

undermine[d] confidence in the outcome of the trial." Exs. P16-P18 

(COL, 11-V); CP at 413 (FOFs 38-40). 

Judge Price vacated Plaintiffs' convictions. CP at 413 (FOF 41); 

Exs. P 16-P 18. Soon after, the superior court dismissed the charges against 

Plaintiffs because there was "insufficient evidence to proceed with 

[re-] trial." CP at 413-14 (FOFs 42, 43, challenged FOF 44). 

Plaintiffs then filed claims for monetary damages under the 

wrongful conviction compensation act, RCW 4.1 00. CP at 406. Spokane 

County Superior Court Judge Cooney held a four-day bench trial. Judge 
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Cooney then issued findings of fact, almost all of which are unchallenged, 

and conclusions of law. CP at 406-31. Judge Cooney recited the elements 

that Plaintiffs had to prove to prevail, including that their convictions were 

vacated and charges dismissed based on "significant new exculpatory 

information," and that Plaintiffs were "actually innocent," meaning they 

"did not engage in any illegal conduct alleged in the charging documents." 

CP at 414. Judge Cooney expressly applied the clear and convincing 

burden of proof required by the statute. CP at 415, 431. 

Relying on a Court of Appeals case analyzing similar language in a 

different statute, Judge Cooney read "new exculpatory information" to 

mean that the information had to have been unavailable at trial. CP at 422 

(discussing Riofta v. State, 134 Wn. App. 669, 142 P.3d 193 (2006)).3 

Because the potentially exculpatory evidence at issue here was available at 

trial, but went undiscovered by defense counsel, Judge Cooney found it 

did not meet this definition of "new information." CP at 422-23. In 

addition, the order vacating the convictions was based on the ineffective 

assistance of counsel--counsel's cumulative errors-while the order 

dismissing the charges was based on insufficiency of the evidence. 

CP at 423. Thus, Plaintiffs failed to present sufficient facts to show that 

their convictions were vacated and dismissed based on significant new 

3 Judge Cooney failed to note that this Court of Appeals decision was later 
reviewed by this Court, which adopted a different analysis as discussed below. 
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exculpatory information. CP at 423. 

In addition, Judge Cooney concluded that Plaintiffs failed to show 

by clear and convincing evidence that they were "actually innocent." 

CP at 424, 431. Judge Cooney found that Mr. Kongchunji, who testified 

on Plaintiffs' behalf, did not offer any new information because everyone 

was aware of his recantation before the criminal trial, and no party called 

him to testify. CP at 427. In addition, the trial court found Mr. 

Kongchunji's testimony in this case was not credible. CP at 427. 

Judge Cooney also found that even if Mr. Weskamp's time cards 

show the robberies could not have happened on April 17, 2008, that does 

not prove actual innocence because there were other dates when the 

robbery could have occurred. CP at 427-28. Judge Cooney did not find 

Plaintiffs' alibi testimony to be credible. Mr. Larson's boss's testimony 

about when Mr. Larson arrived at work contradicted Mr. Larson's. 

CP at 428. Judge Cooney did not believe Mr. Gassman, who had 

previously been convicted for a felony crime of dishonesty, when he 

testified that for a whole year he never left his residence without his 

girlfriend. CP at 428-29. And Judge Cooney found Mr. Statler, who had 

also been convicted of a felony crime of dishonesty, was not credible in 

his testimony about the firearm used in the crime, and he could have 

committed the robbery before he provided a breath sample for monitoring 
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at 10:00 pm. CP at 429. While Judge Price found some doubt warranting 

vacation of the convictions, Judge Cooney concluded, based in part on his 

credibility determinations, that Plaintiffs failed to show actual innocence 

by clear and convincing evidence. CP at 430. 

The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded. First, the court 

rejected the trial court's definition of "new information," concluding 

instead that "significant new exculpatory information" must include any 

"information that was available at the criminal trial but was not presented 

to the fact finder." Larson, slip op. at 15. Applying that definition, the 

Court of Appeals concluded that these convictions were vacated and the 

charges dismissed based on new information that was not presented to the 

jury at the criminal trial. Id. at 16-18. The Court of Appeals also 

concluded that the trial court had improperly required the claimants to 

meet a burden higher than clear and convincing evidence to show their 

actual innocence. Id. at 23. The Court of Appeals remanded for the trial 

court to determine whether the claimants proved by clear and convincing 

evidence that they are actually innocent. Id. at 25. 

The State now petitions for this Court's review. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

This case involves the first civil trial under the wrongful conviction 
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compensation act since the act was adopted in 2013.4 The Court of 

Appeals adopted a definition of "new information" that flies in the face of 

ordinary usage and departs significantly from the legislature's intent. It is 

important that this Court correct the error so that it is not replicated in 

future cases. This Court should instead consider "new information" under 

the wrongful conviction compensation act to be evidence whose existence 

was unknown to the defense at the time of trial and that did not go 

undiscovered as a matter of defense strategy. 

This case presents an important issue of statutory interpretation 

and the lower courts need guidance in applying the statute going forward. 

See RAP 13.4(b)(4). Appropriate interpretation of the act is an issue of 

substantial public importance. Id. 

A. This Court Should Grant Review to Determine the Meaning of 
"Significant New Exculpatory Information" Under the 
Wrongful Conviction Compensation Act 

While the wrongful conviction compensation act requires a 

claimant to prove several elements by clear and convincing evidence (see 

RCW 4.1 00.060), only two elements are at issue here: (1) whether "the 

claimant's judgment of conviction was reversed or vacated and the 

4 In Newton v. State, 192 Wn. App. 931,934,369 P.3d 511 (2016), the trial 
court dismissed on the State's motion for summary judgment and the Court of Appeals 
affirmed, concluding that appellate reversal of a conviction for insufficiency of the 
evidence is not "significant new exculpatory information" under the act. A petition for 
review is pending at this Court. Newton v. State, No. 93008-2. 
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charging document dismissed on the basis of significant new exculpatory 

information" (RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii)), and (2) whether the claimants 

were actually innocent, meaning they "did not engage in any illegal 

conduct alleged in the charging documents." RCW 4.100.060(1)(d). 

The Court of Appeals broadly interpreted "new information" to 

include any information that "was not presented to the fact finder." 

Larson, slip op. at 15. Under this reading, a claimant could satisfy this 

element even if the judgment was vacated based on information that was 

known and available at the criminal trial but was not presented to the jury 

for strategic reasons or because a defendant withheld information from 

their attorney (e.g., because the information implicated someone the 

defendant did not want to identify). The Court of Appeals' expansive 

definition could even incorporate evidence not presented to the jury 

because of evidentiary rulings. This definition ignores the ordinary 

meaning of "new information" and the legislative history showing that the 

legislature intended recovery to be narrowly available. 

The Court of Appeals' interpretation of "new information" as any 

"information not presented to the fact finder" flies in the face of the plain 

and ordinary meaning of "new information." Black's Law Dictionary 

defines "new" as "recently come into being" or "recently discovered." 

Black's Law Dictionary 1204 (lOth ed. 2014). And in ordinary speech, if a 
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person said "I have some new information," the listener would be quite 

surprised to learn that the person had the information before and simply 

chose not to share it. As these definitions and example show, the common 

and ordinary understanding of "new information" would not include 

information a person already has. 

The Court of Appeals' overbroad interpretation is also contrary to 

the legislature's intent. Proponents of the act wanted to be sure legislators 

understood that the "significant new exculpatory information" requirement 

was a limiting factor. Proponents assured the legislature that the law 

would provide "strict and narrow criteria for obtaining compensation." 

S.B. Rep. on Engrossed Second H. B. 1341, 63d Leg., Reg. Sess., at 4 

(Wash. Apr. 9, 2013) (staff summary of public testimony on bill as 

amended). One of the "requirements" for "narrow qualification" was the 

"significant new exculpatory evidence" prerequisite. H.B. Rep. on H.B. 

1341, 63d Leg., Reg. Sess., at 6 (Wash. Mar. 1, 2013) (staff summary of 

public testimony in support of substitute bill). 

The fiscal note also informed legislators that successful claims 

would be severely limited. The fiscal note estimated up to five claims per 

year for the first three years, but proponents believed this was excessive, 

noting that "[t]his bill has the strictest criteria in the country." !d. The 

fiscal note estimated only one to three claims per year after the initial three 
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years. Judicial Impact Fiscal Note to 1341 S H.B. PL, at 2-3, 63d Leg., 

Reg. Sess. (Wash. 20 13) (prepared by Admin. Office of the Courts). This 

is generally consistent with the rate of exonerations in Washington and 

with the number of claims that have actually been filed so far, a total of 19 

since 2013.5 Fiscal Note to 1341 S H.B. PL, at 3, 63d Leg., Reg. Sess. 

(Wash. 2013) (prepared by Dep't of Corr.) (describing three Innocence 

Project exonerations since 1992); Fiscal Note to 1341 S HB PL, at 2, 63d 

Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2013) (prepared by W. Wash. Univ.) (Seattle 

Times reported 15 inmates released because of wrongful conviction in 

14 years). In light of this legislative history, it is hard to believe that the 

legislature would have understood "new information" to include 

information not provided to the jury, even though the defendant, his 

counsel, or even the trial judge knew the information. 

The Court of Appeals relied on the principle of statutory 

construction that courts will "construe remedial statutes liberally in 

accordance with the legislative purpose behind them." E.g., Jametsky v. 

Olsen, 179 Wn.2d 756, 763, 317 P .3d 1003 (20 14); Larson, slip op. at 15. 

But this rule should not be indiscriminately applied here, where there is 

evidence that the legislature understood the statute's purpose and scope to 

be narrow. S.B. Rep. on Engrossed Second H.B. 1341, 63d Leg., Reg. 

5 Seven of those claims have been paid. 
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Sess., at 4 (Wash. Apr. 9, 2013); H.B. Rep. on H.B. 1341, 63d Leg., Reg. 

Sess., at 6 (Wash. Mar. 1, 2013). While the legislature certainly intended 

to remedy a harmful wrong, RCW 4.100.01 0, that purpose was expressly 

balanced by specific proof requirements that were intended to limit 

successful claims. 

The Court of Appeals also relied on this Court's decision in State 

v. Riofta, 166 Wn.2d 358, 209 P.3d 467 (2009). But the DNA testing 

statute at issue in Riofta has a different purpose and legislative history than 

the wrongful conviction compensation act. In Riofta, this Court evaluated 

whether a convicted person was entitled to DNA testing post-conviction 

where the material to be tested was available but was not tested before the 

criminal trial. !d. at 363-64. The DNA testing statute, RCW 10.73.170(1), 

allows a convicted person serving a sentence to seek DNA testing if it 

would "provide significant new information." !d. at 364-65; 

RCW 1 0.73. 170(2)(a)(iii). Based on the statute's legislative history, this 

Court rejected an argument that DNA testing could be allowed only if it 

was previously unavailable because of prior limitations in technology. 

Riofta, 166 Wn.2d at 365-66. But the holding was based on the specific 

history of amendments to that statute, and in any case, does not support 

the Court of Appeals' decision here. Nothing in Riofta indicated that if the 

defense had actually tested the DNA before trial but simply chosen not to 
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present the evidence, that another test would still "provide significant new 

information." RCW 10.73.170(2)(a)(iii). Yet that would be the result 

under the Court of Appeals' ruling here, which defines "new information" 

to include any information that "was not presented to the fact finder." 

See Larson, slip op. at 15. 

Ultimately, nothing in Riofta or any other case cited by Plaintiffs 

supports the idea that "new information" must include all "information 

that was available at the criminal trial but was not presented to the fact 

finder." !d. At the very least, where evidence was known to the defendant 

or the defense team at the time of the criminal trial, it should not be 

considered "new information" under the wrongful conviction 

compensation act. For example, there is no indication that the legislature 

intended a criminal defendant to be able to receive compensation under 

the act where he or she kept some information from defense counsel or the 

jury, or where the defense chose not to present or pursue readily 

obtainable evidence as a matter of trial strategy. E.g., State v. Barry, 25 

Wn. App. 751, 760,611 P.2d 1262 (1980) (where defense strategy was not 

to use known or obtainable evidence, a decision to change strategy after an 

unfavorable verdict does not render the evidence "newly discovered"). 

Instead, this Court should consider "new information" under the wrongful 

conviction compensation act to be evidence whose existence was

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