RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Aug 29, 2016, 3:06 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93421-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT E. LARSON, TYLER W. GASSMAN and PAUL E. STATLER,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendant/Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Toby J. Marshall, WSBA #32726 Email: tmarshall@terrellmarshall.com 936 North 34th Street, Suite 300 TERRELL MARSHALL LAW GROUP PLLC Seattle, Washington 98103-8869 Telephone: (206) 816-6603

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

IV. ARGUMENT

This Court will review a decision of the Court of Appeals only when the petitioner satisfies one or more of the conditions set forth in RAP 13.4(b). The State argues for review based solely on "substantial public interest." *See* Pet. for Rev. at 9; *see also* RAP 13.4(b)(4). For the reasons that follow, the State's arguments fail. Accordingly, the Court should decline review.

A. The Court of Appeals properly interpreted "significant new exculpatory information" to include information available at trial but never presented to the factfinder.

To prevail on their claims, Larson, Gassman, and Statler were required to establish six elements by clear and convincing evidence. *See* RCW 4.100.060(1)(a)–(e); *see also Larson*, 375 P.3d at 1102. The decision of the Court of Appeals focuses on the fourth and fifth elements. *Larson*, 375 P.3d at 1102. The fourth element requires a claimant to show the underlying conviction was vacated on the basis of "significant new exculpatory information." RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii). Interpreting the phrase to mean evidence <u>unavailable</u> at the time of trial, the trial court concluded the men failed to satisfy their burden as a matter of law. CP 422-23. The Court of Appeals reversed, holding "that 'new' in the context of 'significant new exculpatory information' must be construed broadly to include information that was available at the criminal trial but was not presented to the fact finder." *Larson*, 375 P.3d at 1104.

The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with both the remedial nature of the Wrongly Convicted Persons Act and this Court's interpretation of the same term in a similar remedial statute. As such, the State has failed to raise an issue of substantial public interest.

1. <u>The Wrongly Convicted Persons Act is a remedial</u> statute and must be liberally construed.

In enacting the Wrongly Convicted Persons Act, the legislature "intend[ed] to provide an avenue for those who have been wrongly convicted in Washington state to redress the lost years of their lives, and help to address the unique challenges faced by the wrongly convicted after exoneration." RCW 4.100.010. The Act is thus remedial in nature. *See* Black's Law Dictionary 1296 (7th ed. 1999) (defining "remedial" as "[a]ffording or providing a remedy; providing the means of obtaining redress"; "[i]ntended to correct, remove, or lessen a wrong").

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that "remedial statutes are liberally construed to suppress the evil and advance the remedy."

- 10 -

Larson, 375 P.3d at 1103-04 (quoting Go2net, Inc. v. FreeYellow.com, Inc., 158 Wn.2d 247, 253, 143 P.3d 590 (2006)). By interpreting "new" to include information that is available at the criminal trial but never presented to the factfinder, the Court of Appeals has promoted the Act's objectives.

The State's proposal for a narrow interpretation, if adopted, would thwart the Act's goals by precluding many (perhaps the vast majority) of exonerated individuals from obtaining relief. *See id.* at 1104. Exculpatory evidence is often available at trial but withheld from the factfinder for many reasons, including bad defense lawyering, governmental misconduct, incomplete investigative work, improper testing, judicial mistakes, or a combination of these factors.¹ A person wrongfully convicted because of a *Brady* violation,² for example, would be denied redress even if he were able to prove his innocence. This is contrary to the Act's primary purpose. *See* RCW 4.100.010.

¹ See, e.g., State v. DeSimone, 839 N.W.2d 660, 662-63 (Iowa 2013) (conviction vacated due to "State's failure to disclose the exculpatory information it had received from [a] witness's employer"); Baba-Ali v. State, 975 N.E.2d 475, 477 (N.Y. 2012) (conviction vacated due to "manner in which certain evidently exculpatory evidence had been dealt with, both by the trial prosecutor and by defense counsel"); Harris v. State, 828 N.Y.S.2d 463, 464 (N.Y. App. Div. 2007) (criminal court twice failed to hear evidence exonerating defendant); Fay v. State, 610 N.E.2d 622, 622 (Ohio Ct. Claims 1988) (conviction vacated when "further investigation" showed others committed the crime).

² Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963) ("suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused . . . violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment").

2. <u>The decision of the Court of Appeals accords with</u> this Court's decision in *State v. Riofta*.

This Court has already interpreted the phrase "significant new information" in the context of a remedial statute designed to provide relief to persons who may have been wrongfully convicted. *See State v. Riofta*, 166 Wn.2d 358, 361-66, 209 P.3d 467 (2009) ("[e]ach subsection of section .170(2)(a) represents a distinct remedial purpose"). In that case, defendant Alexander Riofta sought DNA testing of "a white hat that was worn by the perpetrator of a shooting for which [Riofta] was convicted." *Riofta*, 166 Wn.2d at 361. The trial court denied the motion on the merits, concluding "Riofta failed to establish the likelihood that the DNA evidence he seeks would demonstrate his innocence." *Id.* at 362. The Court of Appeals affirmed on an alternative ground, holding "Riofta failed to establish the DNA testing could yield 'significant new information' because the white hat was available for testing at trial." *Id.* at 361-62, 364 (emphasis added).

This Court rejected the reasoning of the Court of Appeals, concluding "the statute provides a means for a convicted person to produce DNA evidence <u>that the original fact finder did not consider</u>, whether because of an adverse court ruling, inferior technology, or the decision of the prosecutor and defense counsel not to seek DNA testing <u>prior to trial</u>." *Id.* at 366 (emphasis added). The Court held "Riofta's request for testing of the white hat is <u>not</u> precluded . . . on the basis that it could have been, but was not, tested prior to trial." *Id.* (emphasis added). The trial court below erroneously followed the reasoning of the intermediate appellate court in *Riofta* and overlooked the contrary conclusion reached by this Court on review. CP 421-22 (quoting *Riofta v. State*, 134 Wn. App. 669, 142 P.3d 193 (2006)). The Court of Appeals correctly recognized the trial court's mistake and reversed. *Larson*, 375 P.3d at 1103.

Moreover, construing "new" broadly for purposes of RCW 10.73.170 but narrowly for purposes of RCW 4.100.060 would lead to absurd results. Assume, for example, that an incarcerated person obtains DNA testing by showing it would provide significant new information that is, information available at the time of trial but never presented to a jury. If the criminal court subsequently vacated the person's conviction and dismissed the charging documents based on the exculpatory nature of that information, the person would have no recourse under the Wrongly Convicted Persons Act. This, again, would be contrary to the Act's objectives. *See* RCW 4.100.010.

3. <u>The State seeks review on the basis of an irrelevant</u> hypothetical.

In its petition for review, the State repeatedly maintains that construing "new" to include information available at trial will allow a wrongly convicted person to obtain compensation even when the defense has "simply chose[n] not to use [exculpatory information] for strategic or other reasons." Pet. for Rev. at 2. There is no allegation, however, that the defense in this case purposefully withheld the exculpatory information that led to the vacated convictions. To the contrary, it is undisputed the information was never found because the attorneys representing Larson, Gassman, and Statler "failed to competently investigate the case." Exs. 13-15. Thus, the State is asking this Court to accept review in order to address a hypothetical set of facts.

Even if it were possible to imagine a scenario in which an incarcerated person has his conviction vacated based on exculpatory information the defense strategically withheld, the most prudent course would be to wait for those facts to manifest themselves before accepting review. As this Court has said for years, "without a factual controversy before us we believe that an advisory opinion would not be beneficial to the public or to other branches of government." *DiNino v. State*, 102 Wn.2d 327, 332, 684 P.2d 1297 (1984).

But the hypothetical set of facts offered by the State does not exist in reality. To even get to the question of "significant new exculpatory information," a claimant must first convince a court to reverse or vacate his conviction. RCW 4.100.060(1)(c)(ii). In this case, Larson, Gassman, and Statler moved to vacate their convictions under CrR 7.8(b)(5). That rule "will not apply when the circumstances used to justify the relief existed at the time the judgment was entered." *State v. Smith*, 159 Wn. App. 694, 700, 247 P.3d 775 (2011). Thus, if the claimants had been aware of the exculpatory evidence during their criminal trial, they would have had no basis for relief under CrR 7.8(b)(5). Likewise, if defense counsel had withheld the evidence "for legitimate reasons of trial strategy or tactics (i.e., for the defendant's ultimate benefit)," there would have been no grounds for concluding counsel was ineffective. *State v. Horton*, 116 Wn. App. 909, 912, 68 P.3d 1145 (2003); *see also State v. McNeal*, 145 Wn.2d 352, 37 P.3d 280 (2002) ("If trial counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, it cannot serve as a basis for a claim . . . [of] ineffective assistance of counsel.").

.

The decision of the Court of Appeals furthers the remedial objectives of the Act and is in line with this Court's construction of the same term under a similar statute. The State's arguments to the contrary are founded on conjectural facts that find no presence here and are unlikely to occur elsewhere. The Court should decline review.

B. The Court of Appeals properly determined that the trial court applied the wrong burden of proof.

The fifth element of the Wrongly Convicted Persons Act requires a claimant to prove "by clear and convincing evidence" that he "did not engage in any illegal conduct alleged in the charging documents." RCW 4.100.060(1)(d). It is well established in Washington that "clear and convincing" means "the fact at issue must be shown to be 'highly probable." *State v. Dobbs*, 180 Wn.2d 1, 11, 320 P.3d 705 (2014) (quoting *In re Sego*, 82 Wn.2d 736, 739, 513 P.2d 831 (1973)). Instead of applying this standard, however, the trial court applied the most stringent standard found in federal habeas corpus law. CP 425, 430 (quoting and then applying *Herrera v. Collins*, 506 U.S. 390 417 (1993)). Specifically, the court concluded as a matter of law that Larson, Gassman, and Statler

failed to prove it was <u>impossible</u> for them to have committed the alleged crime over a period of several weeks. CP 428-29. The Court of Appeals correctly reversed, holding "the trial court erred" by holding Larson, Gassman, and Statler to "the heightened burden of proof requirement for personal restraint petitions and writs of habeas corpus." *Larson*, 375 P.3d at 1106-07.

The language of the Act is unambiguous: each element "must [be] show[n] by clear and convincing evidence." RCW 4.100.060(1). Indeed, the State agrees that "clear and convincing" is the proper burden of proof. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 15-20. Thus, there is no issue of substantial public interest for the Court to review regarding the standard for proving actual innocence.

The State attempts to circumvent this by asserting that in relying on federal habeas corpus law, the trial court was focused not on the burden of proof but on the <u>definition</u> of "actual innocence." *See id.* at 16 (arguing "actual innocence" is "a legal term of art" and "[i]t was proper for the trial court to consider cases discussing the meaning of 'actual innocence' in other contexts"). As the trial court's ruling unequivocally shows, however, the court turned its attention to federal law in order to "expand[] on the plaintiffs' <u>burden</u> under this element." CP 424 (emphasis added). Utilizing precedent in habeas corpus cases, the court held that "[t]he standard for establishing a freestanding claim of actual innocence is 'extraordinarily high' and the showing for a successful claim would have to be 'truly persuasive." CP 425 (quoting *Herrera*, 506 U.S. at 417)

- 16 -

(internal marks and brackets omitted). The court then applied this test in concluding that Larson, Gassman, and Statler "have not met the[] extraordinarily high and truly persuasive standard required for a claim of actual innocence." CP 430.³

Furthermore, the trial court had no reason to look to federal law for an interpretation of "actual innocence," as the legislature explicitly defined the phrase in the Act. See RCW 4.100.020(2)(a) ("For purposes of this chapter, a person is . . . '[a]ctually innocent' of a felony if he or she did not engage in any illegal conduct alleged in the charging documents."). It is only "[w]here a statute fails to define a term . . . [that] prior judicial use of a term will be considered" *Gimlett v. Gimlett*, 95 Wn.2d 699, 701, 95 P.2d 450 (1981); see also State v. Torres, 151 Wn. App. 378, 212 P.3d 573 (2009) ("When a statute fails to define a term, the term is presumed to

³ The State suggests the trial court followed the "clear and convincing" standard applied in the case of *In re Personal Restraint of Carter*, 172 Wn.2d 917, 263 P.3d 1241 (2011). That case, however, involved a "gateway actual innocence claim in the sentencing phase." *Carter*, 172 Wn.2d at 924. This Court has clarified the difference between a gateway claim of innocence and a "freestanding" claim of innocence:

The applicable test differs depending on the nature of the habeas applicant's innocence claim. If the petitioner is raising a freestanding constitutional claim . . . then federal habeas relief may be available only where . . . the petitioner can meet the 'extraordinarily high' burden of showing actual innocence. *Herrera v. Collins*, 506 U.S. 390, 417, 113 S. Ct. 853, 122 L. Ed. 2d 203 (1993). Alternatively, where the petitioner is alleging actual innocence to avoid a procedural bar that prevents judicial review of an alleged constitutional error, the petitioner's claim takes the form of a 'gateway' actual innocence claim. *Schlup v. Delo*, 513 U.S. 298, 314, 115 S. Ct. 851, 130 L. Ed. 2d 808 (1995).

Id. at 923-24 (continuing to discuss the two "subcategories" of gateway claims and the burdens of proof applicable to each). As noted above, the trial court applied the federal habeas corpus standard for a freestanding claim of actual innocence. CP 425, 430.

have its common law meaning and the Legislature is presumed to know the prior judicial use of the term.") (quoting *State v. McKinley*, 84 Wn. App. 677, 684, 929 P.2d 1145 (1997)).

The decision of the Court of Appeals follows the plain language of the Act and the well-established "highly probable" test for clear and convincing evidence. The State's arguments to the contrary fail to raise an issue of substantial public interest. This Court should decline review.

C. The trial court should have an opportunity to determine actual innocence under the proper evidence standard.

Because the judgment below was based on an erroneous burden of proof, the Court of Appeals remanded the case to the trial court "to determine whether the claimants have proved by clear and convincing evidence they are actually innocent." *Larson*, 375 P.3d at 1107. In its petition, the State asks this Court to sidestep the trial court and decide actual innocence in the first instance. Pet. for Rev. at 17-20. The Court should decline the invitation.

The trial court was the finder of fact in this non-jury case. *Id.* After observing a four-day trial and reviewing the admitted materials, the court determined the claimants presented "credible evidence about the dates and times they were not available to commit the robber[y]." CP 429. But because the court applied the legally incorrect (and "extraordinarily high") burden of proof applicable in certain habeas corpus cases, the court concluded it was unable to grant relief to the men. CP 430. The court's reasoning can be summed up as this: Larson, Gassman, and Statler came

- 18 -

close but failed to prove it was <u>impossible</u> for them to have engaged in the alleged conduct because, for example, the robbery "<u>may well have</u> taken place prior to Mr. Larson's work commitment of 9:45 p.m. and Mr. Statler's breath testing of 10:00 p.m." CP 429 (emphasis added).

Under Washington law, "[the] court does not need to rule out all possibilities" in order to conclude that Larson, Gassman, and Statler have satisfied their burden. *Dobbs*, 180 Wn.2d 1, 11, 320 P.3d 705 (2014). Rather, the court need only find their innocence is "highly probable"—in other words, that it is highly probable they did not engage in the conduct alleged. *Id*. This is the proper application of the clear and convincing standard. *See id*.

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